
 

 

CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

Council Meeting Agenda 

December 04, 2023, 6:00 PM 

Gary McCullough Chambers, Dahlonega City Hall 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council 
meetings should notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting at 706-864-6133. 

Vision – Dahlonega will be the most welcoming, thriving, and inspiring community in North Georgia 

Mission Statement - Dahlonega, a City of Excellence, will provide quality services through ethical 
leadership and fiscal stability, in full partnership with the people who choose to live, work, and visit. 
Through this commitment, we respect and uphold our rural Appalachian setting to honor our thriving 
community of historical significance, academic excellence, and military renown. 

CALL TO ORDER AND WELCOME 

PRAYER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

1. GEFA Service Line Inventory Grant Program SP# 2 - Infrastructure 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

2. GDOT Safety Action Plan 2023-13 – SP #2 – Infrastructure  

Vince Hunsinger, Capital Projects Manager 

3. Koyo Lift Station Rehabilitation Bid Award – SP #2 – Infrastructure 

John Jarrard, JWS 

4. 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services – Strategic Priority #3 - 
Communication 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

5. Park Street Construction Inspection Services - Wiedeman and Singleton - SP #2 – 
Infrastructure 

Mark Buchanan, City Engineer/Public Works Director 

PUBLIC COMMENT – AGENDA SPECIFIC / THREE MINUTE LIMIT 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

a. City Council Meeting Minutes - November 6th, 2023 

Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk  

APPOINTMENT, PROCLAMATION & RECOGNITION:  

1. Cemetery Committee Recognition 

JoAnne Taylor, Mayor 

2. Recognition 

JoAnn Taylor, Mayor  

3. Proclamation - Dr. Frank "Mac" McConnell Retirement from UNG  

JoAnne Taylor, Mayor 

- Page 1 -



4. Appointment of Allision Martin as Acting Zoning Administrator  

JoAnne Taylor, Mayor  

CITY REPORTS: 

5. Cemetery Committee 2023 Annual Report 

Chris Worick, Chairman 

6. Financial Report - October 2023 - SP #3 - Communication 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

OTHER ITEMS: 

7. Leah Kay Catering LLC, dba Yahoola Grill 

Mary Csukas, City Clerk  

8. 2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewals – Strategic Priority #3 Communications 

Mary Csukas, City Clerk & Doug Parks, City Attorney 

9. 39 Stargel St Encroachment Agreement 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

10. TSW Guidance on Recommendations - SP #1 - Effectively Manage Growth 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

11. Resolution 2023-06 - Moratorium on the Acceptance and Processing of Sign Permit 
Applications for All Properties within the City of Dahlonega's Sign Ordinance; and For 
Other Purposes 

Doug Parks, City Attorney  

12. Executive Session - Real Estate  

COMMENTS – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

      Clerk Comments 
      City Manager Comments 
      City Attorney Comments  
      City Council Comments 
      Mayor Comments 

ADJOURNMENT 

- Page 2 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 21, 2023 

TITLE: GEFA Service Line Inventory Grant Program SP# 2 - Infrastructure 

PRESENTED BY: Allison Martin, City Manager 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

GEFA Service Line Inventory Grant Program 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

With the assistance of our grant writers, the city applied for funds from GEFA to aid in the 
completion of the mandatory federal lead and copper service line inventory and reporting. The city 
was awarded $66,000 under this program. GEFA has decided to make this program a draw-down 
grant and has sent forms for a 100% loan forgiveness program. Staff held a meeting with GEFA last 
week to make sure this was a program the city should enter. After the meeting, staff recommends 
proceeding as these dollars are retroactive for any eligible expenditures in the past year and can be 
used for communication, inventory, and reporting costs the city will incur. Moved to consent agenda. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

There is no adverse fiscal impact on the city. Only eligible expenditures will be approved for the 
drawdown of funds so this will not be a burden to our rate-paying customers.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

It is the recommendation of staff to approve this item. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

To be approved under the consent agenda. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

GEFA letter of award, loan document, promissory note 

 

- Page 3 -



- Page 4 -



- Page 5 -



- Page 6 -



- Page 7 -



- Page 8 -



- Page 9 -



- Page 10 -



- Page 11 -



- Page 12 -



- Page 13 -



- Page 14 -



- Page 15 -



- Page 16 -



- Page 17 -



- Page 18 -



- Page 19 -



- Page 20 -



- Page 21 -



- Page 22 -



- Page 23 -



- Page 24 -



- Page 25 -



- Page 26 -



- Page 27 -



- Page 28 -



- Page 29 -



- Page 30 -



- Page 31 -



- Page 32 -



- Page 33 -



- Page 34 -



- Page 35 -



- Page 36 -



- Page 37 -



- Page 38 -



- Page 39 -



- Page 40 -



- Page 41 -



- Page 42 -



- Page 43 -



  

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE:       November 21, 2023 

TITLE: GDOT Safety Action Plan 2023-13 – SP #2 – Infrastructure  

PRESENTED BY: Vince Hunsinger, Capital Projects Manager 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Grant money provided by GDOT for improvements to safety-related items on city streets “road signs, 
striping, stop bars, speed bump approach bars”. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Peek Pavement Marking, LLC is the only contractor to place a bid for this project. Moved to consent 
agenda. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

The total funds allocated to this project are $87,660.85. With our City match of $43,660.85, the State 
contributed $44,000.00. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

To approve Peek Pavement Marking LLC. as the vendor at the December 4th Council Meeting 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

To be approved under the consent agenda. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

Bid tabulation and submittal packet 

 

- Page 44 -



- Page 45 -



- Page 46 -



- Page 47 -



- Page 48 -



- Page 49 -



- Page 50 -



- Page 51 -



- Page 52 -



- Page 53 -



- Page 54 -



- Page 55 -



- Page 56 -



- Page 57 -



- Page 58 -



- Page 59 -



- Page 60 -



- Page 61 -



- Page 62 -



- Page 63 -



- Page 64 -



- Page 65 -



- Page 66 -



- Page 67 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 21, 2023 

TITLE: Koyo Lift Station Rehabilitation Bid Award – SP #2 – Infrastructure 

PRESENTED BY: John Jarrard, JWS 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Koyo Lift Station Rehabilitation Bid Award 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

This project has been on the capital improvement program for several years and is part of the city’s 
program to rehabilitate the older lift stations. This project was included in the FY2024 budget. The 
city is also slated to receive $350,000 towards this project from Congressionally Directed Spending 
Funds once the federal budget is approved. Moved to consent agenda. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

This project came in just over the budgeted amount of $725,000.  The difference can be paid from 
the contingency funds in the water/sewer fund without adverse impact on the funds' financial 
position. We are also slated to receive grant funds once the federal budget is approved. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

The recommendation is to proceed with this much-needed project. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

To be approved under the consent agenda. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

Bid tabulation, resolution of award, bid tabulation detail 

 

- Page 68 -



^TURNIPSEED
ENGINEERS

ATLANTA
AUGUSTA

ST. SIMONS ISLAND

November 10.2023

Mayor and Council

City ofDahlonega
465 Riley Road
Dahlonega, Georgia 30533

Attention: Ms. Allison Martin, City Manager

Via Electronic Mail: amartin@dahlonega.gov

Re: City of Dahlonega, Georgia

Koyo Lift Station Upgrade
Project No. 2225 75

We have checked the bids received November 9, 2023 on subject project. Below is a tabulation of the

bids received.

Contractor Total Amount Bid

1. Sol Construction, LLC

Atlanta, Georgia

2. Lanier Contracting Company

Suwanee, Georgia

3. W.L. Griffin Company, LLC
Gillsville, Georgia

4. Willow Construction Company, Inc.

Powder Springs, Georgia

$736,290.00

$758,691.00

$784,566.69

$967,162.00

As indicated, the low bidder is Sol Construction, LLC of Atlanta, Georgia. Since the bidder appears to

have adequate experience, technical ability and financial capability to complete the project, we

recommend contract award be made to Sol Construction, LLC in the amount of $736,290.00.

We have enclosed a certified tabulation of the bids received and a sample resolution. Please forward us

a copy of the City's signed resolution to award.

If you have any questions concerning our recommendation, please call us.

Yours truly,

GregAshworth, P.E.

GJA:km
Enclosures

ec: Mr. John Jarrard, Water Director (via email, w/enclosures)

Atlanta • 2255 Cumberland Parkway • Building 400 • Atlanta, Georgia 30339 • 770-333-0700 - Page 69 -



RESOLUTION

WHEREAS bids were received by tfie City of Dahlonega, Georgia, November 9,

2023, for the Koyo Lift Station Upgrade; and

WHEREAS the low, responsible, responsive bidder is Sol Construction, LLC of

Atlanta, Georgia with a bid in the amount of $736,290.00, and

WHEREAS the low bidder, Sol Construction, LLC appears to have the necessary

financial and technical ability to complete the project,

BE IT THEREFORE resolved, the City of Dahlonega, Georgia hereby makes
contract award of the construction contract to the low bidder, Sol Construction, LLC of

Atlanta, Georgia, in the amount of $736,290.00.

THIS RESOLUTION was passed by a vote of_to_at a regular meeting

of the Mayor and Council on

CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA

JoAnne Taylor, Mayor

Attest:

City Clerk

- Page 70 -



CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA
KOYO LIFT STATION UPGRADE
PROJECT NO. 222575
CERTIFIED BID TABULATION

BIDS RECEIVED NOVEMBER 9, 2023

THIS IS TO CERTI;
CORRECiT TAB!

T THIS IS A

Greg Xshi^/rth, P'1

Turnipseed Engineers

Atlanta, Georgia

CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA
KOYO LIFT STATION UPGRADE

Sol Construction, LLC

Atlanta, Georgia

Lanier Contracting Company

Suwaaee, Georgia

Item 1 For furnishing all material and equipment and performing all

labor necessary for rehabilitation of the Koyo Lift Station

(excluding the cost of equipment listed in Item 2), removal of

existing pumps, installation of new valve vault top slab, lining

the wet well interior, electrical, mechanical, painting, gravel,

erosion control, and all other appurtenances, as shown on the

Drawings and/or specified, the lump sum amount of:

Item 2 For furnishing and installing Major Mechanical Equipment

Equipment and Manufacturer

$400,000.00

PRICE BASE PRICE PRICE

$440,250.00

BASE PRICE

a. Submersible Pumps - Section 5

Mfr. Xylem/Flygt

Subtotal Items 1 through 2, inclusive, the amount of:

$330,500.00 $312,241.00

$330,500.00 $312,241.00

$730,500.00 $752,491.00

EXTRA WORK, IF ORDERED BY ENGINEER

(To cover authorized changes in scope of lump sum work under Item No. 1)

ITEM
NO.

3.

4.

a.

b.

c.

5.

QTY.

5

0.1

0.1

0.1

12

UNIT

CY

TON

TON

TON

CY

DESCRFPTION

CLASS 'A' CONCRETE WORK

C.I. OR D.I. PIPE FITTINGS

Bell and Spigot

Mechanical Joint

Flanges

CRUSHED STONE STABILIZATION OR
BEDDFNG (Including excavation and removal

of unsuitable soil)

UNIT PRICE

$400.00

$7,600.00

$8,000.00

$7,900.00

$120.00

TOTAL
PRICE

$2,000.00

$760.00

$800.00

$790.00

$1,440.00

UNIT PRICE

$720.00

$3,000.00

$3,000.00

$5,000.00

$125.00

TOTAL
PRICE

$3,600.00

$300.00

$300.00

$500.00

$1,500.00

Subtotal, Items 3 through 5 inclusive, the amount of: $5,790.00

TOTAL AMOUNT BID, ITEMS 1 THROUGH 5, INCLUSFVE, THE AMOUNT OF: $736,290.00

$6,200.00

$758,691.00

The Bidder further proposes and agrees hereby to commence work under contract, with adequate force and equipment, on a date to be specified in a

written order of the Engineer, and shall fully complete all work thereunder within the consecutive calendar days set forth in the Contract

Agreement.

ADDITIONS / DEDUCTIONS

Note: The Owner reserves the right to add any or all of the following additions/deduction of the work for the purpose of making contract award.

Award of the contract may be with one or more of these items. Each bidder must fill in the unit price amount for each item below.

D-l To delete the Pump Station wetwell liner specified in Section 4.51

Deduct $25,000.00 Deduct $27,300.00

Tumipseed Engineers
Dahlonega/222575 Page 1 Certified Bid Tabulation

- Page 71 -



CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA

KOYO LIFT STATION UPGRADE
W.L. Griffin Company, LLC

Gillsville, Georgia

Willow Construction, Inc.

Powder Springs, Georgia

Item 1 For furnishing all material and equipment and performing all

labor necessary for rehabilitation of the Koyo Lift Station

(excluding the cost of equipment listed in Item 2), removal of

existing pumps, installation of new valve vault top slab, lining

the wet well interior, electrical, mechanical, painting, gravel,

erosion control, and all other appurtenances, as shown on the

Drawings and/or specified, the lump sum amount of:

Item 2 For furnishing and installing Major Mechanical Equipment

Equipment and Manufacturer

$362,537.09 $627,431.72

PRICE BASE PRICE PRICE BASE PRICE

a. Submersible Pumps - Section 5

Mfr. Xylem / Flygt

Subtotal Items 1 through 2, inclusive, the amount of:

$414,535.60 $337,220.28

$414,535.60 $337,220.28

$777,072.69 $964,652.00

EXTRA WORK, IF ORDERED BY ENGINEER

(To cover authorized changes in scope of lump sum work under Item No. 1)

ITEM
NO.

3.

4.

a.

b.

c.

5.

QTY.

5

0.1

0.1

0.1

12

UNIT

CY

TON

TON
TON

CY

DESCRIPTION

CLASS 'A' CONCRETE WORK

C.I. OR D.I. PIPE FITTINGS

Bell and Spigot

Mechanical Joint

Flanges

CRUSHED STONE STABILIZATION OR
BEDDfNG (Including excavation and removal

of unsuitable soil)

UNIT PRICE

$500.00

$13,000.00

$13,500.00

$14,500.00

$74.50

TOTAL
PRICE

$2,500.00

$1,300.00

$1,350.00

$1,450.00

$894.00

UNIT PRICE

$250.00

$200.00

$200.00

$200.00

$100.00

TOTAL
PRICE

$1,250.00

$20.00

$20.00

$20.00

$1,200.00

Subtotal, Items 3 through 5 inclusive, the amount of: $7,494.00

TOTAL AMOUNT BID, ITEMS 1 THROUGH 5, INCLUSIVE, THE AMOUNT OF: $784,566.69

$2,510.00

$967,162.00

The Bidder further proposes and agrees hereby to commence work under contract, with adequate force and equipment, on a date to be specified in a

written order of the Engineer, and shall fully complete all work thereunder within the consecutive calendar days set forth in the Contract

Agreement.

ADDITIONS / DEDUCTIONS

Note: The Owner reserves the right to add any or all of the following additions/deduction of the work for the purpose of making contract award.

Award of the contract may be with one or more of these items. Each bidder must fill in the unit price amount for each item below.

D-l To delete the Pump Station wetwell liner specified in Section 4.51

Deduct $27,379.00 Deduct $27.379.00

Tumipseed Engineers
Dahlonega/222575 Page 2 Certified Bid Tabulation

- Page 72 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 21, 2023 

TITLE: 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services – Strategic Priority #3 - 
Communication 

PRESENTED BY: Allison Martin, City Manager 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

This agreement continues tourism promotion services provided by the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County 
Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. as a standalone entity. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Historically, the city has contracted with the Chamber to provide tourism promotion services. This 
agreement for tourism development services is with the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, Inc. in recognition of the separation of the two entities. The agreement has been 
reviewed by legal as to form and reviewed by the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, Inc. and city staff for content. This is the latest draft of the contract.  Moved to the 
consent agenda. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

$297,063 over the year – months January through September are in the FY24 approved budget.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval of the agreement as provided.   

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

To be approved under consent agenda. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services 

 

- Page 73 -



AGREEMENT FOR TOURISM DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 

This Agreement entered into as of _______________, 2023, by and between the City of 

Dahlonega, a Georgia Municipal Corporation, (the “City”), and the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County 

Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc., a private sector nonprofit 501(c)(6) corporation under the 

laws of Georgia (the “CVB”) is as follows: 

WHEREAS, the City may expend funds subject to the following limitations: 

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) of this subsection, a municipality…may 

levy a tax under this code section at a rate of 5 percent. A municipality…levying a tax 

pursuant to this paragraph shall expend (in each fiscal year during which the tax is collected 

under this paragraph) an amount equal to the amount by which the total taxes collected 

under this Code section exceed the taxes which would be collected at a rate of 3 percent 

for the purpose of (a) promoting tourism, conventions, and trade shows; … Amounts so 

expended shall be expended only through a contract or contracts with… a private sector 

nonprofit organization, or through a contract or contracts with some combination of such 

entities, except that amounts expended for purposes (C) and (D) may be so expended in 

any otherwise lawful manner.  

O.C.G.A. 48-13-51(a)(3). 

 WHEREAS, the City may expend funds for promoting tourism; and 

 WHEREAS, such expenditures are permissible pursuant to a contract with a private sector 

nonprofit organization; and 

 WHEREAS, the CVB is a private-sector nonprofit organization exempt from income tax 

under IRC 501(c)(6) which is willing and authorized to expend such funds for the purpose of 

promoting tourism in Dahlonega, Georgia as provided by law; and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises herein, the parties agree as follows: 

1) Compensation and related details.   

i. During the term of this Agreement, the City agrees to provide in consideration for 

the services rendered certain restricted funds to be derived from the proceeds of the 

hotel-motel tax. The monthly sum provided shall be $24,755.25. The term proceeds 

as referenced in this paragraph shall be certain funds collected from the levy of the 

hotel-motel tax by the City less the City’s administrative fee of 3% of the funds 

collected, and the term restricted shall mean the funds shall be used exclusively for 

Tourism, Convention and Trade Show purposes as same are used in Title 48 

Chapter 13 Article 3 of the Georgia Code. 

ii. The CVB shall, in consideration of the tax funds referenced above, provide bi-

monthly financial reports to the City by the 30th day of each calendar month 

following a board meeting in a form mutually agreeable to both the CVB and the 

City. These reports will be used by the City in part to ascertain the CVB’s 

- Page 74 -



compliance with the terms of this Agreement and with O.C.G.A. Section 48-13-

51(9)(A). The City may in its sole discretion require during the term of this 

Agreement additional financial information from the CVB, including specific 

receipts, copies of checks, deposits, and other similar items. The CVB shall also 

deliver a copy of its annual Form 990 and annual financial audit with findings and 

management comments as well as the QuickBooks documentation required by the 

City’s designated auditors before the 180th day following the CVB fiscal year being 

audited.  

iii. By executing this Agreement, the CVB hereby affirms that it will use the funds 

received solely and exclusively in compliance with this Agreement and will further 

expend such funds in full compliance with the City ordinances and state laws. The 

CVB agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City from and against all 

claims that arise therefrom, including reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs of 

the City.  

iv. During the term of this contract and during each renewal term, if any, the CVB shall 

deliver its “cost allocation analysis” to the City of Dahlonega for the next 

succeeding contract year, including tourism budgets, advertising plans, and 

projected CVB budgets and such other information sufficient to the satisfaction of 

the City for it to adopt a budget plan specifying how the proceeds of such tax are to 

be expended. These efforts, and special CVB tourism promotions if any, shall be 

reviewed by the City as part of the City’s budget process and may be amended at 

the discretion of the City in consultation with the CVB. The City may then 

determine and adopt a Tourism Development Services Contract budget plan to be 

made a part of the City budget plan. Special projects of the CVB, if any, including 

major renovations or multiyear elements of the work program, may then be 

identified, and budgeted as part of the annual budget process with the City. 

 

2) Expenditure Solely for Promoting Tourism. Tourism involves traveling to experience 

and learn about the places, attractions, and activities in the City of Dahlonega, Georgia. All 

hotel/motel tax sums received by the CVB from the City shall be expended for the purpose 

of promoting tourism within one year, and solely for the benefit of the City and only as 

follows: 

i. Promoting and stimulating tourism in Dahlonega to increase leisure visitor volume, 

overnight stays, visitor spending, and economic impact through the promotion and 

distribution of the City’s travel products to the travel trade; and 

ii. Promoting conventions, events, and trade shows, which includes planning, 

conducting, or participating in programs of information and publicity designed to 

attract or advertise tourism, conventions, events, or trade shows; and 

iii. The promotion of recreational, cultural, historic, and natural resources of 

Dahlonega to attract both leisure and group visitors to Dahlonega;  

Tourism promotion efforts must involve the following elements: 

- Page 75 -



i. The CVB will employ one full-time Executive Director to 

administer, initiate, and monitor all advertising/marketing 

campaigns for the City; and 

ii. This employee will be expected to attend tourism training and be an 

active member in tourism organizations, regional trails, and heritage 

programs, that will help promote the City of Dahlonega as a leisure 

and group travel destination, convention and meeting location, and 

a cultural heritage center of the Northeast region, and to appear both 

quarterly and on request before the Mayor and the City Council at a 

public meeting to discuss the CVB’s operation and finances. 

iii. A staffed Welcome Center that will provide an outlet for 

promotional materials and a place to help with information about 

activities in Dahlonega and provide restroom facilities for the 

public. Hours of operation of the Welcome Center shall be approved 

by the City. It is expected that the traditional hours as follows shall 

be maintained:  Hours of operation of the Welcome Center will be 

10:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. Monday-Friday, 10:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. 

Saturday, and 10:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. on Sunday. The Welcome 

Center will be closed as follows: Thanksgiving Eve closes at 2:00 

p.m., Thanksgiving Day closed, Christmas Eve closes at 2:00 p.m., 

Christmas Day closed, and New Year's Day closed. The Welcome 

Center and public restrooms may be open longer during peak 

season(s) and weekends. Any reduction of these hours will need to 

be approved by the City.  

 

3) Audit Verification. The CVB shall provide audit verification, as described below, to the 

City and demonstrate that the CVB uses the funds solely and exclusively for the purpose 

of promoting tourism in conformance with this Agreement. Reports are due 180 days 

following the end of the CVB’s fiscal year. Failure to file the required report may 

compromise the CVB’s status to receive grant funds. 

a. The CVB shall provide a cost allocation schedule for overhead costs associated with 

the use of CVB facilities for tourism activities. The audit verification shall include a 

Line-item Detailed Expense Report to the City identifying and describing each item 

funded with hotel/motel tax revenues including all direct and indirect costs. Detailed 

invoices shall be retained in compliance with the City’s retention schedule and will be 

available for review at the CVB offices. The City Clerk shall provide a copy of the 

retention policy upon request. 

b. At the end of the fiscal year, the CVB shall internally perform this audit verification 

and provide to the City a Detailed Annual Report that conveys each item funded with 

hotel/motel tax. Every third year, the CVB shall hire an outside agency to perform a 

full audit in lieu of its annual internal review and submit the findings in a report to the 

City.  

 

- Page 76 -



4) Audits of Lodging Properties. The City shall periodically perform unannounced audits of 

one, some, or all lodging properties in the City. These may be undertaken by an outside 

agency. Such lodging property audits shall be paid for from new tax funds collected 

incident to the audit process or from hotel-motel tax collections, prorated between the CVB 

and the City based on the revenue sharing agreement in place at the time of payment not to 

exceed a cost of $5,000.00 for the CVB’s share. 

 

5) Use of Jointly Owned Facility. The CVB occupies a building provided to it in part by the 

City. The CVB shall maintain insurance on the building’s contents and liability insurance 

satisfactory to the City. A copy shall be furnished to the City together with a certificate of 

insurance at the time of execution of this contract and upon each renewal. The CVB shall 

pay all monthly routine operational bills including but not limited to electricity, internet, 

telephone, and water. The CVB shall also provide paper supplies, hand soap, and related 

items for proper operation of restrooms. The building may be inspected by the City at any 

time. 

i. In lieu of rent, the CVB shall perform all needed upkeep and maintenance of the 

interior of the building from Tourism and non-tourism monies based upon a 

functional analysis of the expense. Exterior maintenance and major repairs will be 

paid in equal thirds by the CVB, the City, and Lumpkin County. A contingency 

fund of no less than $6,000 and no more than $12,000 will be maintained by the 

CVB for this purpose. The CVB will obtain approval from the City and Lumpkin 

County prior to making any modifications to the building. Should a maintenance 

bill not be paid on time, or cited maintenance not be performed as suggested by the 

City’s inspection within the time specified, the said bill will be paid by the City 

after consultation with the CVB. The amount of the bill or maintenance cost will 

be subtracted from the next available City hotel/motel revenue payment to the CVB. 

The value of the rent shall be reflected in the CVB’s annual audit and Form 990. 

 

6) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, or other communications required or permitted to 

be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be addressed and delivered to each party 

at the addresses set forth below. Any such notice, request, demand, or other communication 

shall be considered given or delivered on the date of receipt. The rejection or other refusal 

to accept or inability to deliver because of a changed address of which proper notice was 

not given shall be deemed to be receipt of the notice, request, demand, or other 

communication. By giving prior written notice thereof, any party may from time to time 

and at any time change its address for notices hereunder. Legal counsel for the respective 

parties may send to the other party any notices, requests, demands, or other 

communications required or permitted to be given hereunder by such party. 

i. City of Dahlonega.  

Attn: Allison Martin 

465 Riley Road 

Dahlonega, Georgia 30533 

ii. Dahlonega-Lumpkin County Convention and Visitor’s Bureau 

- Page 77 -



Attn:  Sam McDuffie 

13 S Park Street 

Dahlonega, GA 30533 

 

7) Term, Renewal, and Termination. The term of this contract shall commence on January 

1, 2024, and end on December 31, 2024. This agreement shall automatically renew on the 

first day of the calendar year that immediately follows the current Agreement term. Either 

party may terminate the Agreement at the end of its annual term and bar automatic renewal 

by written notice to the opposing party’s notice address listed in paragraph 6, provided 

such written notice is postmarked no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the current 

annual term.  

 

8) Assignment. The parties hereto may not assign, sublet, or transfer their interest in and 

responsibilities under this agreement without the prior written approval of all parties hereto.  

 

9) Georgia Law. It is the intention of the parties that the laws of Georgia shall govern the 

validity of this agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights 

or duties of the parties.  

 

10) Severability. In the event any provision or portion of this agreement is held by any court 

of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, such holdings shall not affect the 

remained hereof and the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect to the 

same extent as would have been the case had such invalid or unenforceable provision or 

portion had never been a part hereof. 

 

11) Reasonable Cooperation. On and after the date of this agreement, both parties shall, at 

the request of the other, make, execute, and deliver or obtain and deliver all instruments 

and documents and shall do or cause to be done all such other things which either party 

may reasonably require to effectuate the provisions and intentions of this agreement.  

 

12) Time. Time is and shall be of the essence under this agreement. 

 

13) Binding Authority. The parties signing this agreement hereby state that they have the 

authority to bind the entity on whose behalf they are signing.  

 

14) Integration. This agreement supersedes all prior discussions and agreements between the 

parties and contains the sole and entire understanding between the parties with respect to 

transactions contemplated by this agreement. This agreement shall not be modified or 

amended except by a written instrument executed by or on behalf of the parties in the same 

manner in which this agreement is executed. No course of action or waiver of rights 

hereunder shall constitute a waiver of such right or action.  

 

- Page 78 -



15) Compliance with Law, Responsibility for Transmission of Meeting Records. By 

executing this Agreement, the CVB acknowledges it may be a contracted organization, 

receiving 33% or more of its total operating budget from hotel/motel tax, and if so, is 

subject to the Open Meetings Act (O.C.G.A. 50-15-1 et. Seq) and Open Records Act 

(O.C.G.A. 50-18/70 et. Seq.). The CVB will provide the City with a copy of 

Committee/Board meeting notices, agendas, supporting documents, and minutes from each 

and every meeting reflecting a report of the Convention and Visitor’s Bureau activities and 

official actions taken by the governing body.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement under their hand and 

seal on the date set forth above.  

CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA 

Acting by and through its Duly Elected 

Mayor and City Council 

 

By: ______________________________ 

       JoAnne Taylor 

 

Title: Mayor________________________ 

 

Date: _____________________________ 

 

Attest: ____________________________ 

             City Clerk 
 

 

DAHLONEGA-LUMPKIN COUNTY 

CONVENTION AND VISITORS 

BUREAU INC. 

 

By: ______________________________ 

       Sam McDuffie 

 

Title: Executive Director______________ 

           

Date: _____________________________ 

 

- Page 79 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 21, 2023 

TITLE: Park Street Construction Inspection Services - Wiedeman and Singleton - SP 
#2 – Infrastructure 

PRESENTED BY: Mark Buchanan, City Engineer/Public Works Director 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Approval of use of Wiedeman and Singleton for construction inspection services for the Park Street 
Utility Replacement Project. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

The council previously approved the construction contract and contingency funds to cover items 
such as this.  Given the nature and scope of the construction, and the desire to reduce liability, the 
city’s staff recommend the use of outside construction inspection services. We received a letter 
proposal from the engineer of record for this project and recommend using their services for this 
project. Moved to the consent agenda. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

There is no adverse fiscal impact as funds were previously allocated for this. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

It is the recommendation of staff to approve this letter proposal. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

To be approved under the consent agenda. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

Proposal letter from Wiedeman and Singleton 

 

- Page 80 -



WIEDEMAN AND SINGLETON, INC. 
CIVIL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERS 

3091 GOVERNORS LAKE DRIVE 

S U I T E  4 1 0  

N O R C R OS S ,  GE OR GI A  3 0 0 7 1  

 

 

1 3 1  E AS T  M A I N S T R E E T  

S U I T E  3 0 0  

R OC K  H I L L ,  S OU T H  C A R OL I N A 2 9 7 3 0  

 

W W W . W I E D E M A N. C OM  

 
 

 
 

T R OY  B E G A N  

P E T E R  J OH NS  

P E T E R  S NY D E R  

H AR OL D  W I E D E M A N  

 

September 27, 2023 

 

 

Mr. Mark Buchanan, P.E. 

Public Works Director/City Engineer 

City of Dahlonega 

465 Riley Road 

Dahlonega, GA  30533 

 

Re: Engineering Proposal – 

Construction Services 

Park Street Utility Improvements 

 

Dear Mr. Buchanan: 

 

Per your recent conversation with Matt Henderson, P.E., with our firm, it is our understanding that the 

City of Dahlonega is making preparations to proceed with construction of the Park Street Utility 

Improvements (Division I), and that the City has requested engineering assistance with the following 

tasks during construction: 

 

Task 1 – Assist with review of Shop Drawings and Submittals 

Task 2 – Assist City with Change Order Requests 

Task 3 - Assist City with Contractor Requests for Information (RFIs) 

Task 4 - Attend Monthly Construction Progress Meetings 

Task 5 - Conduct Site Inspections 

Task 6 - Assist City with Final Inspection & Punch List 

Task 7 – Prepare Record Drawings 

 

Our proposal to assist the City with these tasks is presented in the attached Man-Hour Planning Sheet.  

For this type and scale of project, we suggest periodic part-time site inspections of the work (i.e., to 

complement planned involvement by City staff).  In this instance, since Matt Henderson, P.E., lives in 

the City of Dahlonega, we propose to utilize Matt for the site inspections at a reduced hourly rate of 

$125.00 per hour as detailed in the attached Man-Hour Planning Sheet.  Matt’s other construction 

services on the project will be billed at his standard billing rate of $165.00 per hour.   

 

 

 

- Page 81 -



 

Mr. Mark Buchanan, P.E. 

September 27, 2023 

Page 2 

 
 
 

 

 

We have estimated a total of 560 hours for inspection work throughout the project, which we feel 

should be adequate.  This estimated number of hours will most likely vary depending on the number of 

issues that arise during the construction progress.  We will only bill the City for the actual number of 

inspection hours provided. If additional inspection hours become necessary, and are authorized by the 

City, then these can be provided as construction progresses at the same hourly rate as detailed on the 

Man-hour Planning Sheet.     

 

We appreciate the opportunity to assist the City with this effort. Should this proposal be acceptable, 

please sign, date, and return a copy to us and we will consider it our notice to proceed.  If you have any 

questions or need any additional information, please let us know. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

WIEDEMAN AND SINGLETON, INC. 

 

        

 

Peter J. Johns, P.E. 

Project Manager  
 

Enclosure 

Cc:  Matt Henderson, P.E. – W&S 

 

 

 

Client: _______________________________ 

 

Date: ___________________________ 

- Page 82 -



Man-hour Planning Sheet
Client/Facility: CITY OF DAHLONEGA
Project Title: PARK STREET UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS - DIVISION I
Prepared by: Wiedeman and Singleton, Inc.
                                 Work Task Name CONSTRUCTION PHASE SERVICES
                                 Work Task Number 003 Name of Team or Classification
Notes: Sub-tasks PM SRPE EIT INSPECTION Total
1. CONSTRUCTION SERVICES BASED ON 3.01 - ASSIST WITH REVIEW OF SHOP DRAWINGS AND SUBMITTALS 4 60 40 104
     APPROX. 14 MONTH SCHEDULE 3.02 - ASSIST CITY WITH CHANGE ORDER REQUESTS 8 60 68
2. RECORD DRAWINGS PREPARED USING 3.03 - ASSIST CITY WITH CONTRACTOR RFIs 8 60 68
     DRAWING MARKUPS PROVIDED BY GC 3.04 - ATTEND MONTHLY PROGRESS MEETINGS 56 84 140
3. PART-TIME SITE INPECTION INCLUDED 3.05 - CONDUCT PERIODIC SITE VISITS/INSPECTIONS 560

3.06 - ASSIST CITY WITH FINAL INSPECTION & PUNCH LIST 20 40 60
3.07 - PREPARE RECORD DRAWINGS 12 40 52

0
0
0
0
0

Deliverables 0
1. SHOP DRAWING APPROVALS 0
2. RFI RESPONSES Total Hours Per Team Member 96 316 80 560
3. INSPECTION REPORTS W/ PHOTOS Total Planned Hours 388
4. FINAL INSPECTION PUNCH LISTS Total Hourly Rate Per Team Member $195.00 $165.00 $115.00 $125.00
5. RECORD DRAWINGS  

Total Cost Per Team Member $18,720.00 $52,140.00 $9,200.00 $70,000.00

Direct Expenses $1,000.00 Total Package Cost $151,060
     REIMBURSABLES (MILEAGE, COPIES, ETC.) $1,000.00

Wiedeman & Singleton, Inc.
- Page 83 -



 

 

CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

Council Meeting Minutes 

November 06, 2023, 6:00 PM 

Gary McCullough Chambers, Dahlonega City Hall 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council 
meetings should notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting at 706-864-6133. 

Vision – Dahlonega will be the most welcoming, thriving, and inspiring community in North Georgia 

Mission Statement - Dahlonega, a City of Excellence, will provide quality services through ethical 
leadership and fiscal stability, in full partnership with the people who choose to live, work, and visit. 
Through this commitment, we respect and uphold our rural Appalachian setting to honor our thriving 
community of historical significance, academic excellence, and military renown. 

CALL TO ORDER AND WELCOME 

Mayor Taylor called the November 6th City Council meeting to order at 6:01 P.M.  

Mayor Taylor welcomed everyone to the meeting and thanked everyone for coming.  

PRESENT 
Mayor JoAnne Taylor 
Councilmember Ron Larson 
Councilmember Roman Gaddis 
Councilmember Johnny Ariemma 
Councilmember Ryan Reagin 
Councilmember Ross Shirley 
Councilmember Lance Bagley 
 

PRAYER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

Mayor Taylor asked Councilmember Larson to lead everyone in prayer and Councilmember 
Ariemma to lead the Pledge of Allegiance.  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Mayor Taylor entertained a motion to approve the agenda. 

Motion made by Councilmember Gaddis, Seconded by Councilmember Shirley. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

Mayor Taylor explained to the public that this is a mechanism by which things have already been 
discussed thoroughly in the Work Session by the City Council and can then be put on a Consent 
Agenda to be voted on in one grouping. Councilmembers can move things on and off the consent 
agenda at this meeting. Mayor Taylor then states that she wants to table item five, the 2024 
Agreement for Tourism Development Services, until the December meeting. She states that 
contract language still needs to be worked on.  

Mayor Taylor made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  
 

Councilmember Ariemma motioned to approve the consent agenda outside of pulling off the 
Mailbox Ordinance for discussion.  Seconded by Councilmember Larson. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 

- Page 84 -



Mayor Taylor suggested moving item number three, Mailbox Ordinance, to Ordinances 
Resolutions as item 5a and then moving Zoning Map Amendment to 5b.  

 

1. 2024 Meeting Dates - Public Notice - Strategic Priority #3 - Communication 

Mary Csukas, City Clerk  

2. Contract Renewal - Jarrard Water Services (JWS) – Strategic Priority #1 - Infrastructure 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

3. Renewal of Probation Contract 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

4. 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services – Strategic Priority #3 - 
Communication 

 Allison Martin, Finance Director 

5. 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services – Strategic Priority #3 - 
Communication  
Allison Martin, Finance Director  
The 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services was tabled until the December 
Council Meeting.  

PUBLIC COMMENT – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

Mr. Ostaszewski made a public comment and suggested a crosswalk between South Chestatee 
and Arcadia Street. He asked what his next steps would be to get this done.  

Mr Gribben made a public comment about multiple concerns with the City.   

Mr.Feagin made a public comment concerning the police department during festivals.  

Mayor Taylor made a comment reminding all of the City Council candidates that tomorrow is 
election day and that if they are successful at winning a post on City Council, it is tradition that 
one of their pants legs will be cut off after the election. The results will be at the elections office 
on Tuesday night.  

Councilmember Bagley welcomed Mr. Ostaszewski to the community and congratulated him on 
his new business. 

.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

a. City Council Meeting Minutes - October 2, 2023 - Strategic Priority #3 - Communication 

Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk  

b. City Council Work Session Minutes – October 16th, 2023 – Strategic Priorities #3 - 
Communication  

Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk 

Mayor Taylor called for a motion to approve the City Council Meeting Minutes of October 
2, 2023, and the City Council Work Session Minutes of October 16th, 2023.  

Motion made by Councilmember Bagley, Seconded by Councilmember Larson. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

APPOINTMENT, PROCLAMATION & RECOGNITION:  

1. Appointment of Assistant City Clerk – Sarah Hunsinger – Strategic Priority #3 
Communication  

Mary Csukas, City Clerk 

- Page 85 -



Mayor Taylor swore in Sarah Hunsinger in the position of Assistant City Clerk.  

Mayor Taylor congratulated Assistant City Clerk Hunsinger on her new position. She 
states that a City Clerk's job is to install record retention and retain all the materials that 
come through the City. They are the ones responsible for issuing and helping with alcohol 
licenses and making sure they go to the right organizations. Right now, they are doing a 
heavy-lifting project. She states that there are multiple boxes in this building and other 
buildings in town, and our City clerks are digitizing all of the paperwork and digitizing it. 
Therefore, we no longer have to worry about a fire burning essential documents, making 
it easier for us to look for things when needed. She goes on to welcome Assistant City 
Clerk Hunsinger on board officially.  

2. Proclamation - Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc 

JoAnne Tayor, Mayor 

Mayor Taylor read the audience the Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc. 
proclamation.  

Mayor Taylor said this proclamation was delivered to the Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall 
of Fame. Mayor Taylor thanked them for their service and endeavors to help the new 
people in the ROTC program at universities with their scholarships.  

3. 2023 Community Helping Place Holiday Ornament  

Melissa G. Line, LMSW, Executive Director, Community Helping Place 

Mayor Taylor said they are blessed to have some wonderful charitable organizations in 
this community. She says they are happy to host the Community Helping Place, Mrs. 
Melissa Line, to unveil the 2023 Community Helping Place Holiday Ornament.  

Mrs. Line states they are very excited to share this year's ornament. She says sharing 
something with so much history and heritage in Dahlonega is exciting. This year's 
ornament is the Meaders Building. It is the mint green building home to Connie's Ice 
Cream Shop, Habersham Winary, and the Hoyle Law firm. She states this is a true 
celebration of inheritance and all the wonderful things that Dahlonega has to share. This 
ornament is our annual fundraiser that supports our work through our food pantry, free 
clinic, and other operations we offer. She thanks Mayor Taylor and the City Council for 
allowing them to be here and do this. They are available online through the Community 
Helping Place Office, the Fudge Factory, Connie's Icecream Shop, The Humble Candle, 
Crown and Bear, Hairworks, Cranberry Corners, and Captin D's.  

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

CITY REPORTS: 

4. Financial Report - September 2023 (presented as unaudited) 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

City Manager Martin stated that this report is presented as unaudited. Sales tax collections 
remain strong, reflecting collections 7.54% greater than FY22. Insurance Premium Tax is 
24% greater than last fiscal year. Alcoholic Beverage Tax and License revenue is greater 
than in previous years. Permit revenue is also greater than in previous years. Department 
expenditures are in line with budget expectations. Downtown Development Authority 
results are on track with the budget. As the budget was programmed to use fund balance, 
there is no concern with the lag in revenues for this fund. Hotel/Motel Tax Fund collections 
have remained higher than in previous years.  FY23 now trends 1.77% greater than FY22 
and is still 69.82% higher than pre-pandemic collections. Water and sewer sales are 
trending along with budget projections. Revenue from water sales and sewer charges is 
6.18% more than last year and 6.28% greater than pre-pandemic numbers. All department 
expenses are in line with the budget. Solid Waste Fun Refuse Collection Charges are 
revenues that are 1.89% greater than the prior year. Expenses meet budget expectations. 

- Page 86 -



Stormwater Enterprize Fund is meeting budget expectations. Expenses are related to the 
startup of the new utility, projects, and allocated staff pay and benefits.  

Councilmember Ariemma asked where Jarrard Water Services would go under.  

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS: 

5. Mailbox Ordinance 2023-06 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

Mayor Taylor entertained a motion.  

Motion made by Councilmember Larson to approve Ordinance 2023-09 as presented, 
Seconded by Councilmember Reagin. 

Councilmember Ariemma asked what people should do with their existing mailboxes. He 
asked if there would be a right to rebuild it if it gets ruined.  

Councilmember Larson suggested to table this item. 

Councilmember Gaddis said they are doing this because one of our employees got hurt. 
He asks what our liability is if this happens again.   

Motion made by Councilmember Larson to act on the motion that is on the table, 
Seconded by Councilmember Bagley. 

Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Reagin, 
Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
Voting Nay: Councilmember Ariemma 

6. Zoning Map Amendment - (Parcel No. D11-033) Ordinance 2023-09 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

The applicant is requesting to rezone a 0.261+ acre property on Meaders Street from R-
1: Single Family Residential District to R-3: Multiple Family Residential District for the 
purpose of utilizing the existing single-family residence as a personal vacation home and 
short-term rental property, with conditions. Short-term rentals within the R-1 zoning district, 
as defined in Article VIII, are not permitted to be used, resulting in the rezoning 
request.  The staff report calls for the council to determine the compatibility of short-term 
rentals with the existing development pattern and with the adjacent neighborhood. Subject 
to that determination being made, the attached pro forma ordinance suggests several 
conditions to be imposed.   

Mayor Taylor sought a motion from the council.  

Councilmember Larson made a motion to approve based on compatible information 
provided in the ordinance.  

Mayor Taylor stated that since there was no Second, the motion died. 

A motion was made by Councilmember Gaddis to table this pending the TSW 
consultants' review, seconded by Councilmember Reagin. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

CONTRACTS & AGREEMENTS: 

OTHER ITEMS: 

7. 2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewals – Strategic Priority #3 Communications 

Mary Csukas, City Clerk & Doug Parks, City Attorney 

Mayor Taylor entertained a motion from the council.  

Motion made by Councilmember Gaddis to approve the alcoholic beverage licenses 
listed on the 2023 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewal by Class List, Seconded by 

- Page 87 -



Councilmember Larson. 

Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

8. Executive Session - Real Estate  

No action was taken.  

COMMENTS – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

City Clerk Csukas had no comments.  

City Manager Martin had no comments.  

City Attorney Parks congratulated staff on this year's alcohol license process.  

City Council Comments -  

Councilmember Shirley reminded everyone of the Veterans Day Parade this weekend and stated 
that the staff had started decorating the square for Christmas and that the team was doing great.  

Councilmember Ariemma congratulated Assistant City Clerk Hunsinger on her position.  

Councilmember Gaddis states that the Lumpkin County Education Foundation has their annual 
fundraiser for a chance to win $5,000. You can buy a ticket for two for dinner or a chance.  

Councilmember Larson congratulated Assistant City Clerk Hunsinger. He reminded everyone that 
the Sunrise Rotary Club had a Battle of the Badges fundraiser. He asked everyone to have Police 
Chief Albert in the Favorite Pet Contest.   

Councilmember Reagin congratulated Assistant City Clerk Hunsinger and hoped everyone 
remembers Veterans Day.  

Councilmember Bagley congratulated Assistant City Clerk Hunsinger and Lumpkin County 
Football on their success.  

Mayor Taylor had no comments.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Taylor made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:18 P.M.  

Motion made by Councilmember Shirley, Seconded by Councilmember Bagley. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

- Page 88 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 21, 2023 

TITLE: Cemetery Committee Recognition 

PRESENTED BY: JoAnne Taylor, Mayor 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

The council asked for a program to recognize those who give their time and talents in service to 
various city boards, authorities, and committees. The Cemetery Committee is the first to be 
recognized in what will become annual events. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

n/a 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

n/a 

RECOMMENDATION:  

n/a 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

n/a 

ATTACHMENTS:  

Certificates 

 

- Page 89 -



- Page 90 -



- Page 91 -



- Page 92 -



- Page 93 -



- Page 94 -



Proclamation of Recognition 

Dr. Frank J. “Mac” McConnell’s Retirement 

 

WHEREAS, in 1987, Mac McConnell became a staff member of North Georgia College serving as the 

Director of Procurement. During his career, he has served as the Comptroller, Vice President for Business 

& Finance, and was named the Senior Vice President for Business and Finance for the University of North 

Georgia in 2012. He served as a cabinet member and key advisor to the President, supervised over 400 

employees, oversaw an ever-increasing budget for 36 years, served as an assistant professor, and 

represented the University and Dahlonega at home and abroad five times; 

WHEREAS, during his time at the college, he was integral in the transition of North Georgia College to 

North Georgia College and State University to the now multi-campus University of North Georgia and 

oversaw countless improvements to university facilities and amenities; 

WHEREAS, during his tenure, he served on the University Fundraising Leadership Team to increase 

philanthropic efforts for the University of North Georgia and through these efforts saw scholarships 

increase by 500%, served as the relationship and development officer for the single largest donor family 

in the university’s history, and facilitated countless other fundraising initiatives that benefit the 

university to this day;   

WHEREAS, during his tenure, he created the Office of University Compliance which was adopted by the 

University System of Georgia in 2022 as the method of approach to Clery Act compliance;  

WHEREAS, during his tenure, he was appointed by the President to conduct a comprehensive review of 

athletic programs and develop a plan of improvement which led to countless post-season appearances, 

championships, and three NCAA National Championships in individual and team sports.  

WHEREAS, during his tenure, he gave back to his community by serving in leadership roles for numerous 

boards, authorities, committees, and local service organizations; 

WHEREAS, during his life, he gave his time and talent as a Little League Coach, youth leader in his church, 

and mentor to many young musicians. Mac, known as an excellent husband, father, and friend is our 

own “Dirty Feet” “Guitar Man”!  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that the Dahlonega City Council hereby proclaims November 28, 

2023, as Mac McConnell Day in recognition of his many years of service and contributions to our 

community and retirement from the University of North Georgia.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have set our hand and caused the seal of the City of Dahlonega to be affixed 

this 28th day of November 2023.  

 

_______________________________    _____________________________________ 

JoAnne Taylor, Mayor     Mary Csukas, City Clerk 

- Page 95 -



CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

CEMETERY COMMITTEE 

ANNUAL REPORT 

2023

- Page 96 -



Mission 
The mission of the Dahlonega Cemetery Committee is to act in an 

advisory capacity to the Dahlonega City Council on matters related to 
the historic preservation, maintenance, operation, and projected future 

use of all city maintained, municipal cemeteries.

- Page 97 -



Cemetery Committee 
Voting Members:

Chris Worick- Chair, Member since 2018

Quataunda Armstrong- Vice Chair, Member since 2022

Jane Mellor- Member since 2018

Terry Grizzle- Member since 2018

Patricia Turner- Member since 2020

Non Voting- Members at Large:

Vacant

Vacant
- Page 98 -



2023 Accomplishments

MT HOPE CEMETERY

- Page 99 -



Employed the services of Ammon’s Grave Restoration 

Service (Cleveland, Ga.)to repair the historic box tomb 

of Charles Courtenay (1821-1848).

- Page 100 -



UNG student volunteers helped with 

gravestone cleaning and removal of 

dead vegetation around historic graves.

- Page 101 -



Care and marking of veteran’s graves.
Placed flags on all known veteran’s graves for 

Memorial and Veteran’s Day.

Ordered and received VA approved headstones for 

four previously unmarked veteran graves.

Identified one Canadian WW I veteran in Mt. Hope 

and marked his grave with Canadian flag.

- Page 102 -



Mt. Hope Cemetery 

Cleanup Saturday 

November 4th

- Page 103 -



City workers removed overgrown and 

invasive vegetation at the entrance of Mt. 

Hope (Before and After)

- Page 104 -



Identified the missing grave of 

Claude Worley who died 

tragically in 1891.  The story

of the discovery of Worley’s 

headstone was published in 

the Dahlonega Nugget. 

- Page 105 -



A new technique to locate unmarked late 20th century graves.

In Oct. 2023, UNG student volunteers assisted the Cemetery 

Committee in locating unmarked graves using a metal detector.  

- Page 106 -



Established a ten station QR coded self guided 

historical walking tour.

Tour created by 2023 UNG 
graduate Delaney Waters- Page 107 -



Columbarium niches sold: 18

New Section of Memorial Park staked off for future burial sales.

Placed flags on veteran’s graves for Veteran’s and Memorial Day observances

Recorded graves without permanent markers that are subject to damage or loss.

MEMORIAL PARK CEMETERY

- Page 108 -



Begin initial phase of fence construction around Mt. Hope

Conduct A fundraiser to purchase supplies and materials for 
cemetery upkeep and preservation.

Create a memorial sign to recognize unmarked African American 
burials in Mt. Hope.

Organize a historical guided tour to help bring in funds to 
maintain Mt. Hope

Continue to partner with UNG to teach their students the 
importance of cemetery preservation.

Cemetery Committee

Goals for 2024

- Page 109 -



THANK YOU!

To everyone who has supported 

the Cemetery Committee in 2023.

- Page 110 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 20, 2023 

TITLE: Leah Kay Catering LLC, dba Yahoola Grill 

PRESENTED BY: Mary Csukas, City Clerk  

STRATEGIC 
PRIORITIES 

SP#3 - Communication 

  
  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Leah Kay Catering LLC, dba Yahoola Grill, owned by Leah Lloyd, location to be 1810 South 
Chestatee Street, requests a Consumption on Premise Alcoholic Beverage License for Beer, Wine, 
and Distilled Liquor at the establishment. The alcoholic beverage license application is in order with 
all payments and completed paperwork 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

This location is zoned for restaurants and is currently held by the restaurant Yahoola Creek Grill 
Restaurant, which serves food and alcoholic beverages. The new owner, Leah Lloyd, is currently 
part of the Yahoola Creek Grill staff and will be the new business owner of the restaurant at this 
location, dba Yahoola Grill.    

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff recommends approval for a Consumption on Premise Alcoholic Beverage License for Leah 
Kay Catering LLC, dba Yahoola Grill Class D, Retail Liquor, Class E, Retail Beer, and Class F, 
Retail Wine by Drink for CY2024 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Approval of the Consumption on Premise Alcoholic Beverage License for Leah Kay Catering LLC, 
dba Yahoola Grill Class D, Retail Liquor, Class E, Retail Beer, and Class F, Retail Wine by Drink for 
CY2024 

ATTACHMENTS:  

DOR and Local Alcoholic Beverage License Applications 

 

- Page 111 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 24, 2023 

TITLE: 2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewals – Strategic Priority #3 
Communications 

PRESENTED BY: Mary Csukas, City Clerk & Doug Parks, City Attorney 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

1. Consumption on Premise = Class D, Liquor by the drink, Class E, Beer by the drink & Class 
F, Wine by the drink. 
 We have two licenses requiring approval on the renewal list. Three establishments still 

need to submit renewal information. Zen Ramen and Sushi Burrito, LLC is changing 
ownership. 

2. Retail Package License = Class B, Beer, and Class C, Wine.  
 We have four licenses requiring approval on the renewal list. These approvals will finalize 

compliance for the renewal of establishments with retail package store licenses in the 
City of Dahlonega.  

3. Manufacturer = Class H, Wholesale Beer, Class I, Wholesale Wine & Class K, Brewer.  
 No applications are pending for the manufacturers.  

4. Farm Winery Tasting Room = Wine Tasting Rooms in Dahlonega.  
 No applications are pending for the farm winery tasting rooms.  

 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Our annual renewal of alcoholic beverage licenses by class is underway. The city staff has reviewed 
the applications on the attached alcoholic beverage license renewal by class list for compliance.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

Collection of Alcoholic Beverage Excise Tax Revenue. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Review and approve each alcoholic beverage license listed on the alcoholic beverage license 
renewal by Class list for Consumption on Premise Class D, Liquor by the drink, Class E, Beer by the 
drink & Class F, Wine by the drink and Retail Package License = Class B, Beer, and Class C, Wine 
and Farm Winery Tasting Rooms.   

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Approve the alcoholic beverage licenses listed on the 2023 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewal by 
Class List.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewal by Class List 

 

- Page 112 -



 

 

 

DATE: 11/20/2023 

TITLE: 39 Stargel St Encroachment Agreement 

PRESENTED BY: Doug Parks, City Attorney 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Encroachment and Easement Agreement for 39 Stargel St to allow current residence/structure(s) to 
remain in place as is but denying the current and or any future owner(s) from building new additions, 
improvements or rebuilds into the right of way. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval is recommended with possible text refinement before approval. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Motion to approve. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

Encroachment and Easement Agreement 

 

 

 

- Page 113 -



 

 

Recording requested by: 

Pacific Law Group, LLC. 

 

After Recording Return To: 

Pacific Law Group, LLC. 

625 Molly Lane Suite 130 

Woodstock, GA 30189 

 
File Number: 23-18713CP 

Parcel ID: D12-012 

 
 

 
ENCROACHMENT AND EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF LUMPKIN 

 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made this  day of  ,2023, by and between R. Scott 

McDonald ("Owner'') and The City of Dahlonega ("Adjoining Owner"). 

IN CONSIDERATION of the premises and of TEN DOLLARS ($10.00) in hand paid by Owner to Adjoining 

Owner, the parties do hereby acknowledge and agree as follows: 

1. Owner is the fee simple owner of a tract of land described as follows: 

All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in the city of Dahlonega, Lumpkin County, Georgia, and 

being a portion of Land Lot 986, 12th District, 1st Section of Lumpkin County, Georgia, as shown on 

plat of survey dated _______________________, prepared by Travis Pruitt & Associates (RLS No. 

 _________, for R. Scott McDonald and recorded in Plat Book __________, page ________ Lumpkin 

County, Georgia records. 

Subject Property Address: 39 Stargel Street, Dahlonega, GA 30533 

Property Tax ID#: D12-0122. 

2. Adjoining Owner maintains the right of way that borders the western property line of Owner, said 

right of way is commonly known as Stargel Street (a 30' Right of Way as shown in the plat of survey 

prepared by Travis Pruitt & Associates, Inc. attached hereto as Exhibit "A"). Said boundary line being the 

property line between the land of Owner and the right of way maintained by Adjoining Owner. 

3. Owner and Adjoining Owner acknowledge that improvements owned by Owner encroach at 

various points onto the aforesaid right of way of Adjoining Owner. 

4. Owner hereby disclaims any right, title, or interest in any portion of the said right of way of Adjoining 

Owner, by reason of said encroachment or otherwise, and Owner hereby agrees that he will not claim in 

the future any portion of the said right of way maintained by Adjoining Owner by reason of the said 

encroachment. 

- Page 114 -



 

 

5. Adjoining Owner agrees that Owner shall not be required to remove the improvements so long as 

they remain in place. Upon any future removal of the improvements, however, they shall not be 

rebuilt on any portion of Adjoining Owner's property. 

6. Further, Adjoining Owner grants unto Owner a perpetual easement for the purpose and uses 

hereinafter set forth, over, through, and across the encroachment area which, for the purposes of 

access and maintenance, shall include the land around the encroaching improvements and extending 

west 8' to the eastern edge of the pavement running through the center of the right of way commonly 

known as Stargel Street, for the purpose of accessing and maintaining the improvements thereon. 

7. The easement herein granted shall bind the heirs and assigns of the undersigned Adjoining Owner, 

and shall inure to the benefit of the successors in title of the Owner. 

6. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon the parties hereto, and their 

respective heirs, executors, successors, and assigns. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties do hereunto set their hands and seals the day and year first above 

written. 

 
 

 
OWNER: ADJOINING OWNER: 

 
THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

 

 

 
 (SEAL) 

R. Scott McDonald 

   (SEAL) 

BY:  (PRINT NAME) 

ITS:   (PRINT TITLE) 

 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of:  (SEAL) 

BY:  (PRINT NAME) 

ITS:   (PRINT TITLE) 

Unofficial Witness 
 

 

Notary Public Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of: 
 

 

Unofficial Witness 
 

 

Notary Public 

- Page 115 -



 

 

- 

• 

(D 

.[? 

0 

 

 

0 
(1) 
:::, 

0,..... 
(1) 

en 
(D 
OJ 
en 
CD 

3 
(D 

,:.:.:.,.. 
OJ 
:::, 

0.. 
(D 
:::, 

0.... 
0 
OJ 

0 
-::I" 

3 
CD 
:::, 

.O..J. 
OJ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

,,,I 
,'.j 

 
 

 
m 
X 
I 

.O...J, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
I 

!  
 
 

 
.,f 

 
 
 

 

,,"., 
! 

i'!l1· 

.f ·11 

.;: '"1s.oo· 

;(ROH) 

- Page 116 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 21, 2023 

TITLE: TSW Guidance on Recommendations 

PRESENTED BY: Allison Martin, City Manager 

STRATEGIC 
PRIORITIES 

SP#1 - Effectively Manage Growth 

  
  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Review of TSW’s recommendations to provide guidance in the next step of the process. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

TSW was retained to review our current zoning ordinances and city plans and to conduct 
stakeholder meetings to make a series of recommendations for consideration by the council on what 
items should be updated to help our efforts to manage growth and preserve the character of 
Dahlonega. Having heard the presentation, and having time to reflect, staff need to gain consensus 
from the council on what items should be given to TSW as tasks for the drafting of updates to our 
ordinances. TSW is also tasked with handling the public input and information sessions related to 
this project.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

n/a 

RECOMMENDATION:  

n/a 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

n/a 

ATTACHMENTS:  

TSW’s report. 

 

- Page 117 -



DRAFT V3
NOVEMBER 16, 2023

THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA

ZONING ORDINANCE
DIAGNOSTIC REPORT

- Page 118 -



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

MAYOR
JoAnne Taylor

CITY COUNCIL
Roman Gaddis

Post 1

Ross Shirley
Post 2

Ryan Reagin
Post 3

Johnny Ariemma
Post 4

Lance Bagley
Post 5

Ron Larson
Post 6

PROJECT TEAM
TSW

Jenkins, Bowen and Walker, P.C.

2	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 119 -



1.	 Introduction...................................................................................................... 4

Diagnostic Background.............................................................................................4

2.	 Process............................................................................................................... 6

Document Review......................................................................................................6

City Tour......................................................................................................................7

Stakeholder Interviews.............................................................................................7

Case Review................................................................................................................7

3.	 Findings............................................................................................................. 8

Overview.....................................................................................................................8

Housing Attainability.................................................................................................9

Design.......................................................................................................................13

Corridor Overlay......................................................................................................14

Central Business District.........................................................................................15

Other Topics of Interest   .......................................................................................16

4.	 Next Steps....................................................................................................... 18

Contents

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       3- Page 120 -



Diagnostic Background

Founded in 1833 on the heels of the nation’s 
first gold rush, Dahlonega has historically 
been a small community situated in the 
Blue Ridge mountains. Despite its relative 
proximity to metro Atlanta and Gainesville, 
it has generally avoided a significant influx 
of residents and subsequent sprawl of 
suburban-style growth that has occurred 
in these areas. The relatively slow pace 
of growth can largely be attributed to 
the natural conditions in the region. 
Topography has played a significant role 
by historically limiting access to the city in 
terms of railroads, streets, and highways, 

1.	Introduction
and impacting the amount of land 
considered to be suitable for development. 

Looking at recent trends, growth in 
Dahlonega is occurring and should be 
expected to continue. The past few decades 
have seen the City double in population, 
from 3,705 total residents at the time of the 
2000 U.S. Census to 7,537 residents in 2020. 
Tourism has also become a large part of 
the City’s identity as more people come to 
(or at times through) Dahlonega for access 
to the nearby mountains and the related 
recreational and agritourism activities 
this proximity offers. The City’s historic 
downtown presents myriad opportunities 

4	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 121 -



for visitors to shop, eat, or experience the 
past at the Gold Museum in the circa 1836 
former courthouse. Sited immediately to 
the southwest of the historic downtown is 
the University of North Georgia’s Dahlonega 
campus, which is currently the only location 
for the university offering on-campus 
residences. Enrollment at the university 
brings nearly 7,300 additional people to the 
City during the fall and spring semesters, 
effectively expanding the City’s population 
two-fold.

Aware of these factors and sensing the 
need to understand how Dahlonega was 
responding to their influence, City officials 
selected KB Advisory Group to do a study 
of available housing within its boundaries. 
The results of this study were published 
and presented to the elected officials and 
staff in February of 2023. Along with a 
wealth of significant data on the economics 
and housing of the City’s residents, the 
plan provided several recommendations 
on how to address the concerns raised 
in the study. A recurring theme of these 
recommendations was to analyze the 
current zoning regulations to see where 
changes or improvements could be made, a 
sentiment echoed in the City of Dahlonega 
Comprehensive Plan from a year earlier.

It was based on these series of 
recommendations that the City of 
Dahlonega enlisted the services of Atlanta 
based planning and design consulting 
firm TSW, along with the law firm Jenkins, 
Bowen & Walker, to review the current 
zoning code and development regulations 

in the city. With years of experience in 
diagnosing, updating, and developing 
zoning codes, the consultant team will focus 
on the results of the housing study and the 
vision for the City as outlined in the 2022 
Comprehensive Plan, making sure that any 
suggested changes align with the objectives 
of Dahlonega’s citizens and elected officials 
while remaining legally sound. 

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       5- Page 122 -



2.	Process
The process used to develop this diagnostic 
report involved several steps, as specified 
below. 

Document Review

Reviewing existing plans, studies, and 
regulations is one of the best ways to 
understand the existing conditions in a 
community and its unique needs. 

In Dahlonega, several recent plans and 
regulations directly or indirectly relate to 
zoning and development, as shown at right. 
These documents were carefully reviewed 
by the consultant team to both understand 
existing forces at play in the community and 
the city's vision for its future, as applicable. 

Review of existing documents is critical to 
an effective zoning update process. This 
is because there is often a disconnect 
between the type of development that 
a community aspires to in its plans 
and the ability of zoning regulations to 
implement them. The diagnostic process 
allows community's to understand these 
disconnects and identify potential ways to 
better align zoning  regulations with local 
plans. 

Three documents were most relevant:  

•	 The existing zoning regulations;

•	 The 2022 Comprehensive Plan; and 

•	 The 2023 Housing Needs Assessment 

Documents Reviewed

The following documents were reviewed 

to prepare this diagnostic report:

Existing City Plans

•	 2023 Housing Needs Assessment

•	 2022 Dahlonega Comprehensive 
Plan

•	 2021 Sidewalk Master Plan

•	 2019 Parks and Trails Plan

•	 2010/2016 Parking Plan

•	 2016 University of North Georgia 
Master Plan

Existing Regulations

•	 Zoning Ordinance

6	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 123 -



The other plans were also used to 
generate the final recommendations of 
this diagnostic, however, because these 
other plans focused on services and 
infrastructure, there was less in them that 
directly related to zoning updates. 

The review of these existing documents 
provided the consultant team with a 
baseline understanding of Dahlonega 
but was not, in itself, enough to finalize 
recommendations of this diagnostic report. 
Therefore, several additional information-
gathering activities were undertaken to 
better understand the community, the 
effectiveness of its existing zoning, and the 
needs of its stakeholders. 

City Tour

After the document review, a city tour was 
conducted to see firsthand how the zoning 
regulations are applied. The consultant 
team spent several hours with City staff 
touring all areas of Dahlonega to see 
the on-the-ground results of its zoning 
regulations, especially the unintended 
consequences resulting from some 
standards. 

Stakeholder Interviews

On the same day as the city tour, the 
consultant team also started to interview 
stakeholders who regularly interact with 
the zoning ordinance to understand how 
the regulations affect development within 
Dahlonega. These included members of 
City staff, administration, elected officials, 
and people involved in real estate and 

development in the area. Due to scheduling 
conflicts, interviews were also conducted by 
phone. 

Insight from the interviews assisted the 
team in developing an understanding of the 
regulations and processes of development 
within the City. Often the information that 
comes from these interviews not only 
informs the recommendations as they 
relate to the zoning code, but they also 
help the City identify potential process or 
administrative adjustments that could be 
beneficial to consider.

Case Review

Finally, the consultant reviewed recent 
zoning cases which had gone before the 
Planning Commission to identify trends in 
the types of applications they are receiving 
as the last part of the research gathering 
phase. By analyzing the application 
submittals of the past few years, the 
consultant team identified areas of the 
zoning ordinance which are working well – 
for instance if a particular zoning district is 
often requested during rezonings – or areas 
where standards may be too restrictive 
or prohibitive, such as consistent request 
for reductions in setbacks within a specific 
zoning classification. The decisions by the 
Planning Commission are not considered 
as valuable as the requests themselves and 
what these requests can reveal about the 
nature of the existing regulations.       

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       7- Page 124 -



3.	Findings
Overview

Before providing recommendations 
for zoning updates, it is important to 
understand the information obtained 
from the regulatory plans, tour, interviews, 
and case review. Cumulatively these have 
provided vital knowledge and insight into 
the pressures facing Dahlonega in the 
coming years and the ability of its zoning to 
meet the city's needs. 

Each of these are discussed in more detail 
in the following sections: 

•	 Housing Attainability - Ensuring that 
Dahlonega can provide housing for its 
residents. 

•	 Design - Improving the aesthetics 
of new structures and the built 
environment. 

•	 Central Business District - Continuing 
the thoughtful, intentioned growth and 
revitalization of the CBD and nearby 
areas, while preserving history.

•	 Citywide Regulations - Updating 
standards that affect all zoning districts. 

8	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 125 -



Housing Attainability

Dahlonega, like many communities, is faced 
with the challenge of providing enough 
housing for residents and workers at a 
price they can afford. Across the nation, a 
reduction in housing construction following 
the recession of 2008, coupled with often-
restrictive zoning regulations, has led to a 
nationwide situation where housing is not 
meeting the needs of the people. 

In Dahlonega, the subject of housing 
attainability can be divided into four topics: 
economic, types, location, and demand

Economics

One of the questions to come out of the 
Housing Needs Assessment was whether 
Dahlonega’s current housing stock meets 
the needs of all its residents. 

Approximately 38% of workers in the City 
are engaged in what are typically called 
“service industry” jobs. This includes 
jobs involved in the retail, food service, 
accommodations, entertainment, or 
recreation industries, which often have 
lower annual wages. In fact, 44% of the 
City’s households earn less than $35,000 
annually, below the median household 
income for the state. 

Based on the analysis of the housing 
assessment there is a large unmet demand 
in housing that is specific to the lower-
priced end of the housing market. 

Types

Using this economic data, the next step is 
to review the common types of housing 
present in the city and see how well it 
serves these ranges. A housing supply 
analysis was conducted highlighting the 
current inventory and type of housing in the 
city. The findings of this analysis indicate 
that housing is fairly evenly distributed 
between single-family detached, student 
housing, and multi-family housing.

•	 Single-family detached: 36%

•	 Multifamily: 21%

•	 Student Housing: 32%

•	 Townhouse: 4%

•	 Other (includes mobile homes, trailers, 
and RV’s): 7%

While the mix is distributed across 
the spectrum, one of the interesting 
takeaways from the report is the percent of 
townhouses which have been constructed 
within Dahlonega. At only 4% of the 
current total housing inventory, there are 
opportunities for growth within this specific 
housing typology. Additionally, with 67% 
of households in the city being comprised 
of only 1-2 people, there also appears 
to be opportunities for the inclusion of 
new types of housing, especially “missing 
middle” housing such as Cottage Courts, 
garden apartments, and similar small-scale 
communities and multifamily dwelling 
types. 

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       9- Page 126 -



Missing Middle Housing

What does Missing Middle mean?

•	 Multiunit or clustered housing which often resemble single-family dwellings in scale 
and form, serving as a “middle” ground between single-family detached housing and 
larger apartment developments

•	 “Middle” also refers to the fact that these housing types generally present affordable 
housing options for middle-income families 

•	 Considered “missing” because this housing type, once an integral part of the 
housing landscape in most towns and cities in the nation, has declined as an overall 
percentage of available housing options in the U.S. 

10	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 127 -



Missing Middle Housing (cont'd)

What does Missing Middle look like?

•	 Multiunit housing is typically located in an area with walkability and near 
nonresidential amenities like restaurants, stores, workplaces, etc.

•	 Allows for more density than single-family detached, normally between 4-8 dwelling 
units per acre – but are constructed on lots sizes comparable to single-family 
standards

•	 Size, height and form are limited by zoning regulations to standards in line with 
detached single-family houses

•	 Multiunit housing is generally built on smaller building footprints and contains small 
to mid-size dwelling units

•	 Clustered housing should also be smaller in size than a typical detached single-
family dwelling with the houses arranged around shared community open spaces 

•	 Parking needs to be approached thoughtfully, with lower on-site parking 
requirements to maintain adequate communal open space

•	 Can be offered as rental or owner-occupied

•	 Includes the following types of housing: duplex, triplex, and fourplex; cottage court 
or clustered housing; courtyard style multiunit housing; live-work

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       11- Page 128 -



Location

Identifying the need for a diversity of 
housing options is important to the health 
of the city, as is understanding where to 
locate them. Not all housing is compatible 
with the existing development patterns 
of Dahlonega and so the City should be 
deliberate about where certain types of 
housing can be located. Using information 
from the Comprehensive Plan and firsthand 
knowledge from City staff, elected officials, 
and interviewees, a commonality was 
often that the housing needs of the college 
differ from those of the city’s residents. 
Suggestions were often made as to 
where certain housing types should be 
located, such as multifamily apartments, 
townhouses, and similar denser typologies.

•	 Morrison Moore Parkway (Highway 
9) should be the primary location for 
student-based housing and higher 
density options such as multifamily 
apartments and large-scale townhouse 
developments (i.e. more than 10 units)

•	 Gateway Corridors into the City may 
also support higher density dwelling 
types

•	 Thoughtfully designed, context 
sensitive housing including 
townhouses, live-work, and 2-3 story 
mixed-use developments could  be 
located around the Central Business 
District

It is intended that infill development in 
existing residential areas should maintain 
the established character and development 

patterns. Focusing the higher density 
housing in these suggested corridors and 
areas will further protect the traditional 
residential areas from encroachment. 

Demand

During stakeholder interviews, several 
representatives of the real estate 
industry discussed their enthusiasm and 
expectations for development, particularly 
residential development, to continue its 
current trends in Dahlonega. Data from the 
Housing Needs Assessment would seem to 
justify this enthusiasm. Because of a lack 
of production in housing, especially on the 
scale of single-unit dwellings, the supply in 
the City has not kept pace with the demand. 
It is anticipated that over the next 5 years 
the City will need to add nearly 104 single-
family housing units annually (71 attached 
and 31 detached) to replenish the housing 
stock to suitable levels. Growth is already 
occurring, with residential permits issued 
by the City increasing from fewer than 
20 in 2019 to more than 50 total permits 
issued in 2022 alone. Despite this uptick 
in permitting there is still a disparity in 
housing attainability as most of the new 
housing constructed has been marketed to 
the middle- and upper-income earners in 
the area. 

Housing Recommendations  

R1.	 Review the maximum residential 
density of each zoning district for 
opportunities to increase, when 
appropriate:

12	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 129 -



i.	 Prioritize locations for higher 
density development discussed 
under "Location" above using 
density bonuses or similar 
mechanisms.

ii.	 Place provisions within the CBD, 
B-3, and new Corridor Overlay 
district to allow higher densities.

R2.	 Eliminate or reduce the minimum floor 
area per dwelling unit standards so 
that more diverse unit sizes can be 
offered based on market conditions.

R3.	 Improve site planning outcomes by 
creating standards for residential 
districts that focus on landscaping 
requirements, buffers, screening, and 
building layout.

R4.	 Ensure that standards are contextually 
sensitive to the surrounding area 

R5.	 Allow more by-right housing types.

i.	 Expand permitted uses to include 
new housing types, such as garden 
apartments, Cottage Courts, and 
other “missing middle” options not 
currently permitted.

ii.	 Allow mixed-use developments 
that incorporate nonresidential and 
residential uses in some locations. 

Design

Design is a common theme of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan document and 
a recurring topic during stakeholder 
interviews - especially the importance of 

design that reflects Dahlonega's history and 
mountain character. 

Emphasis on design means more than 
just the architectural aesthetics of a place 
- though that is one of the most impactful 
aspects of design consideration. Design also 
encompasses the built environment – how 
sites are or should be arranged to create 
the fabric of a location that meets the needs 
of its citizens while also being purposefully 

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       13- Page 130 -



planned. Both aspects of design can be 
included in the zoning code through a set of 
minimum standards that all developments 
must incorporate and meet.

With this in mind, the following 
recommendations are offered so the zoning 
ordinance can maintain a design aesthetic, 
both architecturally and for the built 
environment, that is suitable to Dahlonega.

Design Recommendations

R6.	 Promote architectural design that 
is compatible with a “mountain” 
community.

i.	 Require steep roof pitches in some 
areas.

ii.	 Address building materials.

iii.	 Require porches, when appropriate.

iv.	 Consider nonresidential and 
residential design aesthetics.

R7.	 Improve site design.

i.	 Update landscaping and buffer 
requirements.

ii.	 Create guidelines for the location of 
buildings on a lot.

iii.	 Create guidelines for the location of 
parking areas on a lot.

iv.	 Revise landscaping requirements 
for parking areas.

v.	 Encourage the use of non-
traditional parking lot construction, 
such as pervious pavers and other 
“green” infrastructure.

vi.	 Create sidewalk design and 
implementation standards.

R8.	 Consider topography in all design 
standards. 

Corridor Overlay

Noting the importance of design, and 
with an understanding that not all aspects 
of a city are the same, one of the major 
recommendations from the consultant 
team is the creation of an overlay or similar 
mechanism for the corridors coming into 
the historic downtown. Located on higher 
classified roads that typically see more 
average daily vehicular trips than local 
streets, these corridors are regularly the 
first glimpse that visitors to Dahlonega will 
see and often leave a lasting impression. 

Corridor Recommendations 

Creating a set of standards for these 
corridors in which architectural and site 
design are coordinated to present the 
best parts of the City is of paramount 
importance. These standards would include:

R9.	 Update standards for parking areas.

R10.	Create specific design standards for 
signage along corridors.

R11.	Create standards for building siting

i.	 Address the location of entryways 
to buildings.

ii.	 Address the relationship of the 
building to the street.

14	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 131 -



iii.	 Promote safe pedestrian walkways, 
including wide sidewalks.

iv.	 Include drive-through standards.

R12.	Create architectural standards, such 
as building materials, fenestration 
requirements, and similar standards 
to improve the aesthetics and 
functionality of commercial 
developments.

Central Business District

Dahlonega’s history and location in the 
North Georgia Mountains are in integral 
part of its identity and have played an 
influential role in how the city developed. 
Centered around a historic courthouse 
and a small grided street system, tucked 
away from major highways and surrounded 
by conditions historically unsuitable for 
development, these conditions have thus 

far limited the City’s growth at manageable 
rates. However, with the anticipation of 
growth and the regional draw of the area 
for tourism, the Central Business District 
will need to adapt in order to maintain its 
vibrancy and cultural importance for the 
City. 

Utilizing the areas immediately surrounding 
the Central Business District to their full 
potential is a key part of the recommended 
zoning changes. Healthy downtowns are 
places with a variety of uses and should 
include residential, commercial/retail, eating 
and drinking establishments, and parks or 
open spaces. A specific focus for Dahlonega 
is the inclusion of more housing in and near 
downtown, adding to the vibrancy of the 
area and reducing the reliance on tourism 
to establish a self-supportive district. 

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       15- Page 132 -



Central Business District 
Recommendations

R13.	Create a mixed-use definition and 
supporting use category to be placed in 
the CBD and B-3 zoning districts.

R14.	Revise height allowances to ensure 
that maximum heights support mixed-
use development.

R15.	Review allowable uses and the creation 
of a “craft manufacturing” use which 
would support maker spaces and 
similar low-intensity uses.

R16.	Create sidewalk standards which 
promote walkability and pedestrian-
oriented uses.

R17.	Create parking standards within 

the CBD and B-3 districts which 
are compatible with the historic 
downtown.

Other Topics of Interest   

Along with the specific areas of focus 
mentioned in the preceding sections, there 
are a variety of items and topics that do 
not fit as neatly into these general themes 
that the consultant team has identified 
as potential items to addressed during 
the zoning updates. Items in this section 
were brought up during interviews and 
discussions or identified by the consultants 
during the existing plan and regulation 
review, evaluation of variance submissions, 
or guided tour. 

16	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 133 -



Other Recommendations

R18.	Find ways to reduce the reliance on 
PUD zoning, which is often difficult for 
staff to administer over long periods of 
time.

R19.	Explore creating a by-right zoning 
district that allows similar flexibility in 
density, mixture of housing typologies, 
etc. to the PUD districts.

R20.	Review procedures related to PUD 
districts for potential changes that 
would allow for more administrative 
control at the staff level and reduce the 
amount of decisions which need to go 
before the Planning Commission.

R21.	Explore creating a new single-family 
residential district with smaller size and 
setback standards than those currently 
located in R-1.

R22.	Create a single use table to make the 
zoning code more user friendly.

R23.	Revise definitions to be modern 
and reflective of current City 
interpretations.

R24.	Review parking and loading 
requirements•	Updates to the sign code 
as needed.

R25.	Modify fence and wall standards, 
especially retaining walls.

R26.	Review setbacks for all districts, 
including buffers and setbacks along 

arterial streets, to make sure they are 
still aligned with the goals and policies 
of the Comprehensive Plan.

R27.	Review lot standards for all districts 
to make sure they are still aligned 
with the goals and policies of the 
Comprehensive Plan.

R28.	Update street design standards to 
allow alternative designs.

i.	 Include private streets and streets 
or drives intended to remain private

ii.	 Allow bioswales, pervious pavers, 
curb-less streets and other 
techniques to reduce stormwater 
runoff.

iii.	 Require future connection.

R29.	Expand existing Short Term Rental 
(STR) regulations.

i.	 Allow STR's in the downtown area 
subject to the outcome of item "iii" 
below.

ii.	 Limit the number of STR's allowed 
in other areas subject to the 
outcome of item "iii" below.

iii.	 Identify the most appropriate tools 
to achieve the above, including, but 
not limited to: a downtown overlay, 
distance requirements, percentage 
restrictions, other location 
restrictions, etc.

DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report       17- Page 134 -



4.	Next Steps
This diagnostic report is the first step in the 
process of updating Dahlonega's zoning 
ordinance. It seeks to serve as a roadmap 
that gives clear direction on some issues 
and identifies where more discussion may 
be needed. 

The recommendations in this diagnostic 
have been guided by a variety of 
considerations and reflect the consultant 
team's best effort to understand local 
needs. The consultant team fully 
ackowledges that nobody knows Dahlonega 
and its needs better than its residents, 
businesses, and property owners. 
Additional recommendations may be 
needed, while others may not be suitable to 
advance to the code-writing phase. 

To this end, this diagnostic report is 
intended to be a flexible document with 
recommendations subject to change during 
the writing process based on the needs of 
the City and community input.

        

18	 City of Dahlonega Zoning Diagnostic Report - DRAFT V3 11.16.2023 - Page 135 -



 

 

RESOLUTION 2023- 06 

 

RESOLUTION INSTITUTING A TEMPORARY MORATORIUM ON THE ACCEPTANCE 

AND PROCESSING OF SIGN PERMIT APPLICATIONS FOR ALL PROPERTIES WTHIN 

THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA TO UPDATE THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA’S SIGN 

ORDINANCE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Dahlonega, Georgia, is currently researching and investigating its options 

regarding the zoning, placement, and regulations of all signage within the City through a possible rewrite 

of its existing ordinances, excluding official road directional signs and signs locating public buildings and 

parks, and  

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council believe it is imperative to protect the status quo while 

such review and possible rewrite happens; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Dahlonega are committed to protecting 

the health, welfare, and safety of its citizens through the regulation of signs and preventing driving 

distraction, visual clutter and other harmful effects of improperly and poorly regulated signs; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Dahlonega believe it is in the best interest 

of their citizens to provide the proper regulations and controls on signage located in the municipal 

boundaries, and 

WHEREAS, the City needs time to prepare, review and consider the effects of signs and the 

continuously updated law regarding the regulation of signs in order to properly protect the citizens,  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Dahlonega, Georgia, 

that a temporary moratorium is hereby established for a period of 90 days from and after December 4, 2023 

through March 3, 2024 on the acceptance and issuance of new sign permit applications.  This moratorium 

shall not apply to pre-permitted signs not requiring an application.   

ITS IS SO RESOLVED THIS 4TH DAY OF DECEMBER, 2023. 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

            JoAnne Taylor, Mayor  

 

Attest: _________________________________ 

                           Mary Csukas, City Clerk  

- Page 136 -


	Top
	1.	GEFA Lead and Copper Service Line Inventory Grant Program - SP #2 - Infrastructure
	GEFA Service Line Inventory Grant Agenda Memo 11.13.2023
	Letter of Award
	Loan Agreement - 100 percent forgiveness
	Promissory Note

	2.	GDOT Safety Action Plan 2023-013 - SP #2 - Infrastructure
	Council meeting 11-20 SAP
	Bid Tabulation
	Bid Submittal Packet

	3.	Koyo Lift Station Rehabilitation Bid Award - SP #2 - Infrastructure
	Agenda Memo 11.13.23
	2023-11-10 email transmit bid tab and reccomendation to City

	4.	Tourism Services Agreement - Convention and Visitor's Bureau - SP #3 - Communication
	Agenda Memo - 2024 Tourism Development Services Agreement (1)
	2023.229 CVB AGREEMENT FOR TOURISM DEVELOPMENT SERVICES UPDATED 11.9.2023

	5.	Park Street Construction Inspection Services - Wiedeman and Singleton - SP #2 - Infrastructure
	Construction Inspection Services Agenda Memo
	Park Street Const. Serv. Proposal Letter and Worksheet 9.27.23

	a.	City Council Meeting Minutes - November 6th, 2023
	Draft Council Meeting Minutes Document 11-6

	1.	Cemetery Committee Recognition
	Cemetery Committee Recognition
	Certificate of Appreciation Volunter Service Cemetery

	3.	Proclamation - Dr. Frank "Mac" McConnell Retirement from UNG
	Proclamation of Recognition - Mac McConnell

	5.	Cemetery Committee 2023 Annual Report
	City of Dahlonega Cemetery Committee 2023 Annual Report

	7.	New 2024 Alcoholic Beverage License - Leah Kay Catering LLC dba Yahoola Grill
	Leah Kay Catering LLC dba Yahoola Grill 4 12-4-2023

	8.	2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewals – Strategic Priority #3 Communications
	2024 Renewal List for Alcoholic Beverage License Dec

	9.	39 Stargel St Encroachment Agreement
	2023.260 Stargel St Memo for 11-20-2023
	2023.260 39 Stargel Encroachment and Easement Agreement Draft

	10.	TSW Guidance on Recommendations - SP #1 - Effectively Manage Growth
	TSW Guidance on Recommendations 11.21.23
	Dahlonega Zoning Updates_Diagnostic Report_DRAFT v3_11.16.2023

	11.	Resolution 2023-06 - Moratorium on the Acceptance and Processing of Sign Permit Applications for All Properties within the City of Dahlonega's Sign Ordinance; and For Other Purposes
	MORATORIUM  DAHLONEGA(24464249.1)

	Bottom

